# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

# RECEIVED

12-08-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2015-AP-1845-CR

MORGAN E. GEYSER, Defendant-Appellant. Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CF-596

# ON APPEAL FROM A NONFINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN PRESIDING

# DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ANTHONY D. COTTON State Bar No. 1055106 Kuchler & Cotton, S.C. 1535 E. Racine Avenue PO Box 527 Waukesha, Wisconsin 53186 Tel: (262) 542-4218 Fax: (262) 542-1993 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

PAGE	PA	GE
------	----	----

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Did the Defendant meet her burden of proof at the reverse waiver hearing to establish that jurisdiction should be transferred to juvenile court?

Circuit Court's answer: No.

### **POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

Oral argument may be appropriate in this case under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22. Appellant's arguments clearly are substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under Rule 809.22(2)(a). At such time as counsel for appellant has had sufficient opportunity to review the brief of respondent, it may be that the briefs fully present and meet the issues on appeal, rendering oral argument technically unnecessary under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(2)(b).

Publication may be appropriate in this case, as the decision may clarify the proper considerations and analysis to be undertaken by a circuit court under this statute.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On May 31, 2014, a passerby found P.L. on a sidewalk bleeding from multiple stab wounds. At the time, Morgan Geyser, her co-defendant Anissa Weier, and P.L., were best friends. After the stabbing incident, P.L. told police that she, Morgan, and Anissa were playing in a park when Morgan unexpectedly said, "I'm sorry" and began stabbing her repeatedly. P.L. also indicated that Morgan told her she had to do this to "save her life." (R. 62, p. 4-5). Morgan and Anissa were later found by police, walking along a highway in Waukesha County. Both girls indicated that they were walking to the Nicolet National Forest (several hundred miles away) to meet Slenderman at his mansion. Morgan was barely twelve years old at the time, and this conduct was out of character for a girl otherwise known by those in her life as peaceful and shy. What no one knew was that Morgan suffered from undiagnosed schizophrenia, and the auditory and visual hallucinations she experienced on a regular basis had become her reality. Those hallucinations, a symptom of her untreated schizophrenia, caused Morgan to believe that she interacted with a number of fictional characters on a regular basis. One such character was Slenderman, a fictional, faceless man with long, sharp tendrils and frightening supernatural powers who preys upon children. Morgan was not alone in her delusions. Anissa also believed in Slenderman, claiming to have seen him on multiple occasions. Anissa's independent corroboration of Morgan's hallucinations only reinforced Morgan's belief in Slenderman, and both girls came to believe that they needed to kill P.L., or their families would die at the hands and tendrils of Slenderman.

Following Morgan's arrest, police searched her middle school locker. They found a notebook with drawings and writings paying homage to Slenderman. Police also found a "supply list" which would be needed to fend off various fictional individuals such as "Jeff the Killer" or Slenderman. (R. 62, p. 4). A private investigator searched Morgan's room, finding mutilated Barbie dolls, along with drawings and writings reflecting her belief in Slenderman. (R. 62, p. 8-9). Many of the mutilated Barbie dolls featured Slenderman signs and symbols

carved or drawn on their bodies. The investigator found a drawing made by Morgan which showed a girl with a knife in front of her with the phrase "Help me Escape My Mind" written above her head. Another picture was of the Slenderman character with the word "No" written dozens of times, covering all useable space of the picture. In that picture, the letter "o" in the word "No" had been replaced with the Slenderman symbol. Other drawings featured images of Slenderman or his symbol, with phrases such as "He is Here Always," "Who Can Save You Now," and "The Last Thing You See."

Both girls were interviewed by police, and Anissa confirmed in her interview with Detective Trussoni that Morgan feared that Slenderman would "go after their families." In her interview with Detective Casey, Morgan stated that Weier told her they had to do the killing or Slenderman would kill their families. Morgan also indicated that she sees Slenderman in her dreams, and sees him even when no one else can see him. She said she would start to get "Slender sickness" because of "Slender radiation," and revealed that Slenderman watches her and can read her mind.

Morgan was evaluated by Dr. Deborah Collins, a forensic psychologist frequently relied upon by the State of Wisconsin for expert opinions in criminal cases. Dr. Collins has worked with the Wisconsin Forensic Unit for more than ten years, and is currently the director of that agency. Dr. Collins noted that Morgan has an "enduring and predominant belief in the existence of Slenderman." She diagnosed Morgan with unspecified schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic

disorder. Dr. Collins also noted Morgan's beliefs in other fictional characters, such as the Harry Potter character "Voldemort." She noted that, to Morgan, Voldemort is real, and she interacts with him even at the Washington County Detention Center. (R. 97, p. 4-9).

Officer Shelley Grunkee was working at the Washington County Juvenile Detention Center the night Morgan was booked. She asked Morgan why the stabbing happened, and Morgan replied, "it had to be done," and "the man got the order, it had to be done." Morgan also said that "the man comes to visit all the time," and has been visiting her since she was 3 years old. (R. 62, p. 8).

Morgan was further evaluated by Dr. Kenneth Robbins, a board-certified psychiatrist. Dr. Robbins was the medical director at the Mendota Mental Health Institute for roughly six years, and met with Morgan on a number of occasions. Dr. Robbins confirmed that Morgan is in the early stages of schizophrenia, suffers from both auditory and visual hallucinations, and possesses an unwavering belief that Slenderman and other fictional characters are real. (R. 97, p. 14-18).

Morgan has remained in custody since May of 2014 – over half of 2014 and nearly all of 2015. She is largely isolated, and lives in the only cell in her facility that does not have a skylight to allow her to see the sun. She is not allowed outdoors. She has received no treatment for her mental illness whatsoever since being taken into custody. She often sleeps on the floor and eats her meals underneath a table. Because this case is in "adult court" she is unable to benefit from all of the services that would be available to her in the juvenile system.

Notably, both Dr. Collins and Dr. Robbins have testified that Morgan cannot receive adequate treatment in the "adult" criminal justice system.

### **CASE HISTORY**

Both defendants were charged with Attempted First-Degree Intentional Homicide as Party to a Crime, by Use of a Dangerous Weapon, by a criminal complaint filed on June 2, 2014. (R. 1). The circuit court found Ms. Geyser, the Defendant in the above-captioned matter, incompetent to proceed at a hearing held on August 1, 2014 (R. 33), and then found that she had regained competency at a hearing held on December 18, 2014. A preliminary hearing was held on February 16 and 17, 2015, and the circuit court found probable cause to proceed on March 13, 2015.

Evidentiary hearings on the issue of reverse waiver vis-à-vis the Defendant were held on June 17 and 18, 2015.<sup>1</sup> The Defendant presented testimony from Dr. Deborah Collins, director of the Wisconsin Forensic Unit. Dr. Collins substantiated the Defendant's significant mental-health issues, and testified that the Defendant's clinical needs supported transfer to Juvenile Court. Dr. Kenneth Robbins, former medical director at Mendota Mental Health Institute, testified regarding the Defendant's unwavering belief in fictional characters, the auditory and visual hallucinations from which she suffers, and the absence of the necessary treatment resources in the criminal justice system. The Defendant also presented

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Evidentiary hearings on the issue of reverse waiver vis-à-vis the codefendant were held on May 26 and 27, 2015.

testimony from staff at Copper Lake School for Girls, Waukesha County Department of Health and Social Services, Washington County Detention Center, and the Defendant's school.

The circuit court denied the Defendant's motion for reverse waiver to juvenile court by an oral ruling on August 10, 2015, and signed a written order indicating such on August 26, 2015, (R. 107). This Court granted the Defendant's Petition for Leave to Appeal that non-final order. (R. 117).

### ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred when it held that the Defendant did not meet her burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that reverse waiver was appropriate. The uncontroverted evidence presented by the Defendant clearly establishes that the Defendant could not possibly receive appropriate treatment in the adult criminal justice system, that reverse waiver would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense committed by the Defendant, and that retaining jurisdiction is not necessary to deter the Defendant or any other juveniles from committing the offense. This Court should find that the Defendant met her burden, reverse the circuit court, and order that the Defendant be waived into the juvenile court system.

### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

"A decision to retain or transfer jurisdiction in a reverse waiver situation is a discretionary decision for the trial court." *State v. Dominic E.W.*, 218 Wis. 2d 52, 56, 579 N.W.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 1998) (citing *State v. Verhagen*, 198 Wis. 2d

177, 191, 542 N.W.2d 189, 193 (Ct. App. 1995)). Such a decision should be affirmed on appeal only "if the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶ 37, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 60, 786 N.W.2d 144, 152-53 (citing *Loy v. Bunderson*, 107 Wis. 2d 400, 414-15, 320 N.W.2d 175, 184 (1982)).

# II. THE CIRCUIT COURT MISAPPLIED THE THREE FACTORS TO THE EVIDENCE.

The circuit court did not reach a reasonable conclusion, having failed to use a demonstrated rational process to examine the relevant facts and apply a proper standard of law. "Juveniles whose cases are charged originally in courts of criminal jurisdiction have a statutory right to a reverse waiver hearing after the criminal court finds probable cause." *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶ 19, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 53, 786 N.W.2d 144, 149. The juvenile bears the burden of proof to demonstrate that jurisdiction should be transferred from "adult court" to juvenile court. *State v. Verhagen*, 198 Wis. 2d 177, 190, 542 N.W.2d 189, 193 (Ct. App. 1995). The three elements that a juvenile must prove by a preponderance of the evidence are:

(a) That, if convicted, the juvenile could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system.

(b) That transferring jurisdiction to [juvenile court] would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense.

(c) That retaining jurisdiction is not necessary to deter the juvenile or other juveniles from committing the [alleged offense].

Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2).

Separate evidentiary hearings were held for each of the two co-defendants in the present case regarding reverse waiver. Because of the separate testimony presented at each hearing, and because of the significant differences between the two defendants, it was inappropriate and problematic for the circuit court to choose to issue a combined oral decision for both defendants at a single hearing. Such a procedure creates a risk that the circuit court's examination of the relevant facts and rational decision-making process for each defendant will inappropriately overlap, leaving each defendant unable to determine on which record the circuit court made its findings. Exactly that occurred in the present case.

The circuit court began its oration, appropriately enough, with a summary of the applicable law (3-8, App. 36-41) and the alleged incident (8-10, App. 41-43). The circuit court then summarized the testimony from the hearings held for each defendant. (10-14, App. 43-47). But the circuit court's subsequent analysis "in applying the criteria to the background for each of the defendants" (14.24-25, App. 47), the very subject of this appeal, makes no distinction whatsoever between the two individuals.

## A. The Defendant's Significant Mental Health Issues Would not be Treated, but Made Worse in the Criminal Justice System.

The first element of the analysis is "[t]hat, if convicted, the juvenile could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system." § 970.032(2)(a). The Defendant met her burden of proof to establish this fact by a preponderance of the evidence. The circuit court did not make an express holding regarding the adequacy of treatment in the "adult" criminal justice system, but its discussion of the Defendant's treatment needs and the opportunities for such treatment in the criminal justice system strongly suggests that such treatment would be wholly inadequate. The circuit court expressly acknowledged that "what happens at age 18" was "a critical factor for the court to evaluate in addressing treatment." (18.9-11, App. 51). But the circuit court also noted that experts testified that the Defendant's "situation was best addressed in the juvenile justice system as opposed to the adult system," and "that meaningful services for [the Defendant] would not be available in the adult system." (13.17-21, App. 46). This testimony was uncontroverted.

More specifically, the circuit court observed that "Dr. Kenneth Robbins testified that . . . [i]n the adult system she would be subject to victimization, would make her illness, schizophrenia, worse." (14.12-23, App. 47). The circuit court also noted that at Taycheedah, where each co-defendant would be housed in the adult system, "there was a wait list for programs" and fewer "resources were available to address programs due to the overcrowding," such that the circuit court "wasn't particularly impressed with what Taycheedah said they had available." (17.1-6, App. 50).

In *State v. Verhagen*, 198 Wis. 2d 177, 542 N.W.2d 189 (Ct. App. 1995). the circuit court "acknowledged that [the defendant]'s treatment in the adult system might not be as adequate as that in the juvenile system, but the court

concluded, on balance, that the other statutory factors in favor of retaining adult court jurisdiction overrode this consideration." *Id.* at 193, 542 N.W.2d at 194. This Court approved of the circuit court's "balanc[ing] the relevant legal criteria," *id.* at 194, and later cited *Verhagen* to support its conclusion that "[t]he reverse waiver statute permits the trial court to balance the treatment available in the juvenile system with the treatment available in the adult system and requires it to decide under the specific facts and circumstances of the case which treatment will better benefit the juvenile," *State v. Dominic E.W.*, 218 Wis. 2d 52, 56, 579 N.W.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 1998) (citing *Verhagen*, 198 Wis. 2d at 193-94, 542 N.W.2d at 194).

But the Wisconsin Supreme Court has since clarified that the proper application of Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2) does not include such balancing. In *Kleser*, the court noted that "the reverse waiver statute requires the juvenile to prove *each* of the three elements by preponderance of the evidence." 2010 WI 88, ¶ 97, 328 Wis. 2d at 84, 786 N.W.2d at 165 (emphasis in original). In other words, "If the juvenile fails to prove one of these elements, the court cannot grant the reverse waiver, no matter how compelling the other two elements may be." *Id*. By repudiating that language of *Verhagen*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has left the above-quoted language in *Dominic E.W.* without any legal underpinning. As such, a proper analysis under the first element of § 970.032(2) considers the adequacy of "treatment in the criminal justice system" without requiring a comparison with treatment in the juvenile system.

The circuit court noted that the co-defendant "rejected the Slenderman delusion during one of the initial interviews," and that testimony at the codefendant's hearing indicated that the Defendant "was a dominant personality, but both shared the delusional disorder. When the connection is broken, the less dominant person stops accepting the delusional system . . . ." (10.23-11.3, App. 43-44). In contrast, the Defendant "continues to have conversations and maintain contact with fictional characters that have been testified to at the hearings. We know that those characters, fictional individuals, do not exist, but she operates as if they do at the juvenile justice system." (13.9-13, App. 46). The circuit court also noted that the co-defendant "displays remorse and has maintained herself well in the detention." (11.7-9, App. 44). In contrast, the Defendant, who earlier in the proceedings had been found not competent to stand trial, "is withdrawn from reality and . . . makes choices against her own best interest." (13.15-17, App. 46). She has "significant mental health issues, schizophrenia. She suffers from psychotic spectrum disorder." (12.13-15, App. 45). At the Washington County Juvenile Detention Facility, the Defendant "continues to have conversations with Harry Potter characters, sits under a table, reads, eats her food under the table and has continued to emphasize she has Vulcan powers." (13.24-14.2, App. 46).

These differences are significant, particularly in light of the Defendant's having "rejected medication and . . . indicated she prefers to continue to live . . . within the fictional world that she has operated in and have contact with the fictional characters she's had contact with in the past." (13.3-7, App. 46). The

circuit court briefly acknowledged "testimony at the hearings involving the civil mental health system," but indicated that this system "has no impact" on its analysis. (19.9-12, App. 52). To the extent that the circuit court's concern about continued supervision is an appropriate consideration, the existence of statutory authority, Wis. Stat. § 51.20, allowing the civil commitment of an individual upon proof that the individual "is mentally ill and is a proper subject for treatment, and that the person is dangerous to himself or herself, or others," *In re Michael H.*, 2014 WI 127, ¶ 28, 357 Wis. 2d 272, 290, 856 N.W.2d 603, 612, is highly relevant to the question of what treatment would be available upon the termination of a juvenile court disposition, at least vis-à-vis this Defendant.

The circuit court did not distinguish between the two defendants when it made its oral decision. The circuit court failed to consider these significant differences between the treatment needs of each defendant. The circuit court's focus on the opportunity for continued *supervision* in the "adult" system after age 18 avoids the statutory question, i.e. the adequacy of the *treatment* in the criminal justice system. As hard as all actors in the criminal justice system wish otherwise, "confinement," "supervision," and "treatment" are not synonyms. If anything, the circuit court's focus on the opportunity for continued supervision supports a holding that the Defendant would *not* receive adequate treatment under the "adult" system.

B. Transferring Jurisdiction to Juvenile Court Does not Depreciate the Seriousness of the Offense for a Child Who Just Turned Twelve, Was

# Motivated by a Fictional Internet Character, and Who Has Significant Mental Health Needs.

The second element of the analysis is "[t]hat transferring jurisdiction to [juvenile court] would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense." § 970.032(2)(b). The Defendant met her burden of proof to establish this fact by a preponderance of the evidence.

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