## **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

02-26-2016

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT II** 

Case No. 2015AP1845-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MORGAN E. GEYSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A NONFINAL ORDER RETAINING
JURISDICTION PURSUANT IN ADULT COURT, ENTERED
IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE
HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL
Attorney General
KATHERINE D. LLOYD
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion to retain jurisdiction over the case because Geyser failed to meet her burden to warrant her transfer to juvenile court.

#### A. Standard of review and relevant law

The adult criminal court has "exclusive original jurisdiction" over a juvenile ten years old or older who is alleged to have attempted first-degree homicide. *See* Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(am). If the juvenile does not waive the preliminary hearing, the State must prove, and the court must find, probable cause of the attempted homicide. *See* Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1). If the court finds probable cause, the court must then determine whether to retain jurisdiction or to transfer jurisdiction to the juvenile system. *See* Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2). But the court "shall retain jurisdiction" unless it finds that the following considerations are satisfied:

- (a) That, if convicted, the juvenile could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system.
- (b) That transferring jurisdiction to the [juvenile] court ... would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense.
- (c) That retaining jurisdiction is not necessary to deter the juvenile or other juveniles from committing the violation of which the juvenile is accused ....

Id.

It is the juvenile's burden to demonstrate that each of these statutory factors support transferring jurisdiction to the juvenile system. *Id.* The juvenile must demonstrate these factors by "a preponderance of the evidence," a standard of proof that is equivalent to the civil "greater weight of the credible evidence" standard. *See* Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2); *see also State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 350 n.22, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999).

Whether to transfer jurisdiction to the juvenile court is a discretionary decision for the trial court. *See State v. Verhagen*, 198 Wis. 2d 177, 191, 542 N.W.2d 189 (Ct. App. 1995). This Court must uphold a discretionary ruling when the record shows that the trial court considered the facts of the case and reached a reasonable conclusion that is consistent with applicable law. *See id*. This Court looks for reasons to sustain a trial court's discretionary decision. *See id*.

# B. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in retaining jurisdiction.

In order to prove that she should be transferred to juvenile court, Geyser had to prove each of the three factors in Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2) by a preponderance of the evidence. *See State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶97, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144.

With regard to the first factor, Geyser argues that she demonstrated that her mental health would deteriorate in the adult system.<sup>9</sup> And, she argues, she showed that she would not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system.<sup>10</sup>

As for the second factor, Geyser argues that the court failed to "consider the unique nature of *this* offense – i.e. that [Geyser's] entry point to the criminal justice system was her psychotic condition." Geyser appears to suggest that the circuit court found that a transfer to the juvenile system would depreciate the seriousness of the offense merely because of the nature of the *charge*, as opposed to the horrific nature of Geyser's specific crime. Geyser also argues that somehow her pre-trial incarceration at a juvenile facility "mitigates any concerns about depreciating the seriousness of the offense." The court facility is a possible to the facility is a possible to the offense of the offense.

Finally, with regard to the last factor, Geyser argues that "[d]eterrence simply is not possible in every situation" and that she was "not required under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2)(c) to affirmatively prove that transfer to juvenile court provides deterrence."<sup>14</sup> Geyser argues that deterrence is a non-factor in her case because a person "who seriously contemplates killing another human being in order to become a follower of Slenderman" will not be deterred by Geyser facing adult consequences for her actions.<sup>15</sup> None of Geyser's arguments show how the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Geyser's Br. at 8-12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Geyser's Br. at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Geyser's Br. at 15 (emphasis in original).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Geyser's Br. at 13-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Geyser's Br. at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Geyser's Br. at 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Geyser's Br. at 17.

1. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in concluding that Geyser failed to show that she could not receive adequate treatment if it retained jurisdiction.

Geyser's argument that she proved that she could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system is flawed. Although the circuit court acknowledged that Geyser presented "[t]estimony [] that meaningful services for [her] would not be available in the adult system[,]" this is not the end of the analysis (129:13). Geyser ignores that if convicted of attempted first-degree homicide, she will spend her first years at Copper Lake, which is where she would be if she were to be adjudicated delinquent in the juvenile system (129:15-16). Thus, for at least some period of time, the treatment options available to Geyser would be the same, regardless of whether she is in the juvenile system or the adult system. In this way, then, she failed to satisfy Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2)(a) because she cannot show that her immediate treatment in the criminal justice system would be inadequate.

More importantly, though, Geyser largely ignores the circuit court's nearly overarching concern with what would happen to Geyser after she turned eighteen years old were she to be in the juvenile system (129:18-19). The court stated,

The key for this Court in evaluating treatment and evaluating the other criteria is what happens at age 18.

In the juvenile justice system, the juvenile would be in the community. No restraints, no supervision, no overview to see what happens, to see what happens to the person who was 12 when they committed this offense to what they're like at age 16, 17, or 18 to be sure they're safe in the community.

In the circuit court in the criminal justice system, depending upon the type of sentencing that is imposed,

there would be either a custody supervision; that is, being held in custody, or supervision based upon extended supervision. There would be continued oversight over what happened.

In the mental health area, the mental health type of supervision, mental health oversight, if you will, in the juvenile justice system ends at age 18. In the adult criminal division disposition, the oversight over mental health concerns and mental health status continues.

There was testimony at the hearings involving the civil mental health system. The civil mental health system, each of these defendants – has no impact. The civil system mental commitment under Section 5120 of the Wisconsin Statutes, is a very specialized area, would not command continued treatment for anyone until certain circumstances occurred, which would be acting out in dangerous ways, but overall it would not provide for any oversight or continued mental health treatment.

(129:18-19). In other words, the court concluded that the juvenile system could not provide Geyser the long-term treatment that she needs.

To support her request for reverse waiver, Geyser was required to show that she "could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system." Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2)(a). At the waiver hearing, Collins, a clinical psychologist retained by Geyser, testified that Geyser's mental health "needs are great and anticipated to be chronic and severe for years to come" (126:7, 12, 70). Dr. Kenneth Casimir, Assistant Medical Director at Winnebago Mental Health Institute, testified that Geyser's early-onset schizophrenia indicated "a more serious form" and said that she "would be expected to deteriorate more severely, require treatment more intensively" (127:79, 96).

Given this, the circuit court properly focused on Geyser's long-term prospects (129:18-19). The juvenile justice system

could not satisfy the court's valid concerns. Although the court acknowledged that Taycheedah, the facility at which Geyser would eventually end up were she to be convicted, was overcrowded and there currently exists a waiting list for programming, "[m]ental health needs are addressed as well [] in the state correctional system" (129:16-17). And, again, the court noted that the first few years of Geyser's confinement would be at the same place – Copper Lake – regardless of which forum her case is in (129:17). Geyser failed to show that the criminal justice system could not support her needs for continued treatment.

Geyser argues that the circuit court somehow erred by considering treatment options in the juvenile system because *Kleser* "repudiate[d]" part of *Verhagen* and left the part of *Dominic E.W.*<sup>16</sup> in which this Court stated that a circuit court is permitted to consider treatment in the juvenile system and compare it to that in the adult system "without any legal underpinning.<sup>17</sup> Putting aside that the State fails to understand how the circuit court's consideration of treatment options at Copper Lake could have harmed Geyser, Geyser fails to show how *Kleser* "repudiated" the language he cites from *Verhagen* and then left *Dominic E.W.* unmoored.

Geyser correctly points out that in *Verhagen* this Court noted that the circuit court had acknowledged that the adult system may not provide the same level of treatment as the juvenile system. <sup>18</sup> *See Verhagen*, 198 Wis. 2d at 193. But the trial court had concluded that the other statutory factors weighed in favor of retaining jurisdiction. *Id.* Geyser is right when she states that this Court stated that the trial court "balanced the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> State v. Dominic E.W., 218 Wis. 2d 52, 579 N.W.2d 282 (Ct. App. 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Geyser's Br. at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Geyser's Br. at 9-10.

relevant legal criteria."<sup>19</sup> *Id.* at 194. Geyser is also right when she states that this Court, in *Dominic E.W.*, stated that under Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2), the trial court is permitted "to balance the treatment available in the juvenile system with the treatment in the adult system[.]"<sup>20</sup> *State v. Dominic E.W.*, 218 Wis. 2d 52, 56, 579 N.W.2d 282 (Ct. App. 1998).

But then Geyser confusingly argues that *Kleser's* statement that the juvenile must prove all three statutory factors – a statement that is nothing more than a plain reading of Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2) – means that the court cannot consider treatment in the juvenile system.<sup>21</sup> As stated, the State fails to understand how the circuit court's consideration of treatment harms her. But also, Geyser's citation to *Kleser* does not undermine *Verhagen* and *Dominic E.W.* Instead, the portion of the case on which Geyser relies merely states that she is responsible for proving all three factors in § 970.032(2). *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶97, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144.

In addition, the statute requires that Geyser demonstrate that she could not receive *adequate* treatment in the criminal justice system, not that she could not receive better treatment or the best available treatment. *See* Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2)(a). The circuit court found that "[m]ental health needs are addressed" in the criminal justice system (129:16).

Finally, the court correctly noted that Geyser had rejected medication for her schizophrenia (129:12-13). Casimir testified that Geyser told him that it would be delusional to take medication to make her stop believing in Slenderman (129:12-13). Collins testified that Geyser does not want the voices she

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Geyser's Br. at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Geyser's Br. at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Geyser's Br. at 10.

hears to go away because they are her friends and from Geyser's perspective, "[s]he has no other friends or close family members" (126:62). But both Casimir and Collins testified that medication is fundamental to the treatment of schizophrenia (126:56, 59; 127:96).

The circuit court was tasked with addressing the record before it in order to determine whether Geyser had proven that transfer was warranted. The record alleged that a schizophrenic girl planned and executed a plot to murder one of her best friends, stabbing her nineteen times (1). Geyser argues that but for her illness, she would not have committed the horrific offense.<sup>22</sup> That may be. But Geyser will not take medication for her schizophrenia, which would be the first step in treating it. So to suggest that she has demonstrated that the criminal justice system cannot adequately treat her when she is complicit in refusing treatment is disingenuous.

2. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in determining that transferring jurisdiction would depreciate the seriousness of the crime.

Geyser argues that she met her burden of proof to establish that transferring her to the juvenile justice system would not depreciate the seriousness of the crime.<sup>23</sup> Geyser seems to argue that the circuit court painted with too wide a brush and declined to transfer jurisdiction *only* because Geyser was accused of attempted first-degree homicide.<sup>24</sup> Geyser argues that the circuit court erred in not "consider[ing] the unique nature of *this* offense – i.e. that [her] entry point to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Geyser's Br. at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Geyser's Br. at 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Geyser's Br. at 12-14.

criminal justice system was her psychotic condition."<sup>25</sup> She also argues that the court "failed to consider [her]<sup>26</sup> argument that the State's treatment of [her] while the present case has been pending mitigates any concerns about depreciating the seriousness of the offense."<sup>27</sup> Geyser has failed to demonstrate any erroneous exercise of the circuit court's discretion.

First, it is incredible to suggest, as Geyser does, that the circuit court refused to transfer jurisdiction solely because the crime was one enumerated in Wis. Stat. § 938.183.<sup>28</sup> Geyser ignores that her crime was not just "serious,"<sup>29</sup> as she admits, but that the circuit court found it "vicious" (129:25). The court deemed the crime "violent, premeditated" and "personal" (129:10). The court stated that "[t]here was a conscious decision at the time of the offense to let the victim die"(129:20). Further, the court emphasized,

This was charged as attempted murder, but you have to keep in mind for both defendants that this was in fact not a happenstance that just didn't work out, they would have killed P.L. had they had more time had they thought about it. This was an effort to kill someone, not a mistake by hitting them too hard, not a mistake by pushing them too hard. This was premeditated murder and an attempt to do so.

The court notes, too, telling the victim to remain quiet, telling the victim that they would leave to get help, all this goes to the nature of the offense and to the characterization of what occurred and it's important for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Geyser's Br. at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Geyser's brief often refers to herself by her party designation, as opposed to her name, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 809.19(1)(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Geyser's Br. at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Geyser's Br. at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Geyser's Br. at 13.

court to consider those circumstances in deciding what happens.

(129:20-21). Geyser is not alleged to have acted in a moment of passion or emotion, but instead to have plotted and planned to kill her best friend. The circuit court amply explained just how serious Geyser's crime was and how transferring her case would depreciate that seriousness.

Second, Geyser's argument that her pretrial detention in a juvenile facility somehow mitigates any concern the court should have over whether transferring her would depreciate the offense is without merit. Geyser offers no support for her argument that where a defendant is housed before trial should be used to offset the depreciation of the offense that transferring the case to juvenile court would do. This is not surprising because one has nothing to do with the other. Geyser's "confinement experience over the last 18 months" does not address the court's concern that transferring her case to the juvenile system would diminish the horrific nature of her crime.

3. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in determining that Geyser failed to establish that retaining her case is the adult system is not necessary to deter her and others from committing other crimes.

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